
McDuffie County Board of Commissioners 
Regular Commission Meeting 

Tuesday Evening, August 15, 2023, 6:30 pm 
Government Center Meeting Room 

AGENDA 

PUBLIC HEARING 

1. Consideration to approve variances and subdivision review for Bent Creek Village, located on the Thomson East
Bypass, Parcel Number 00400094B00.

WELCOME & CALL TO ORDER  Chairman Newton 

INVOCATION & PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

PUBLIC INPUT 

APPROVALS 
Current    Agenda 

   Minutes Regular Meeting- August 2, 2023 

INFORMATION & ANNOUNCEMENTS 

APPOINTMENT/REAPPOINTMENT 
None 

OLD BUSINESS 
None 

NEW BUSINESS 

1. Consideration to accept Planning Commission Board recommendation to approve Bent Creek Village
Development, located on the Thomson East Bypass, Parcel Number 00400094B00.

2. Consideration to approve Ordinance Amendment 23-01; Special Lighting District.
3. Consideration to approve assistance to AFG - Fire Fighters Grant.
4. Consideration to approve FY24 5311 Transit Operating Contract.
5. Consideration to approve Agreement Between the Development Authority and Comcast Cable Communications,

LLC for Broadband Expansion Project.
6. Consideration to approve Intergovernmental Agreement Between the City of Thomson, Dearing, McDuffie County,

McDuffie County Board of Education, and the Development Authority of McDuffie County for Funding Broadband
Improvements.

7. Consideration to approve Intergovernmental Agreement Between the City of Thomson, Dearing, McDuffie County,
regarding consolidation of city fire and county fire and EMS.

8. Consideration to approve Temporary Alcohol License for Blind Willis McTell Blues Festival, to be held on September 
23, 2023, location Stagecoach Road.

9. Consideration to approve Temporary Alcohol License for Chamber Golf Tournament, to be held on September 26,
2023, location Belle Meade Country Club.

10. Consideration to approve Legislative Leadership Conference Voting Delegate.
11. Monthly Budget Report
12. Monthly Financial Report

ADJOURNMENT 



McDuffie County Board of Commissioners 
Regular Commission Meeting Minutes 

Wednesday, August 2, 2023 | 10 am 
Government Center Meeting Room 

REGULAR 

COMMISSION MEETING 
CALL TO ORDER  

Chairman Newton called the meeting to order at 10:00 am, acknowledged quorum of commissioners’ present and 
welcomed everyone in attendance. 

INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Commissioner Favors provided invocation.  

APPROVALS  

Agenda 
Current  
Chairman Newton asked if there were any corrections to the current agenda or minutes. 

Minutes 
Regular Meeting – July 18, 2023 
Work Session – July 31, 2023  

Chairman Newton requested motion to approve Regular Session minutes, July 18th and Work Session minutes July 
31st. Commissioner Jopling made the motion to approve minutes. The motion was seconded by Commissioner 
Wilson. The motion carried unanimously.   

INFORMATION AND ANNOUNCEMENTS 

1. 2023 Legislative Leadership Conference, October 11-13
Registration opens in early August

APPOINTMENT/REAPPOINTMENTS 

Recreation Advisory Board appointment of Carl Gunn and Melody Crenshaw was presented to commissioners.  
Chairman Newton requested a motion to approve appointments. Commissioner Thompson made a motion to  
approve the appointment. The motion was seconded by Commissioner Favors. The motion carried unanimously. 

OLD BUSINESS 
None 

COMMISSIONERS PRESENT: COUNTY REPRSENTATION: 
Charles G Newton, Chairman David Crawley, County Manager 
Sammie Wilson, Vice Chairman Carrie Edwards, County Clerk 
Gloria Thompson, Commissioner Stacey Thomas, Tax Commissioner 
Frederick Favors, Commissioner Pam Workman, Finance Director 
William “Bill” Jopling, Commissioner  Jason Smith, Community Development 

Stephen Sewell, Fire EMS 
Robert Spurlin, IT Director 

MEDIA: McDuffie Progress Members of the Public 



 

McDuffie County Board of Commissioners 
Regular Commission Meeting Minutes 

Wednesday, August 2, 2023 | 10 am   
Government Center Meeting Room 

 
 
NEW BUSINESS  

 
1) McDuffie County Annual Financial Report, Year Ending December 31, 2022 was presented by The Baird Audit 

Group, LLC.  
 

The independent auditors provided a thorough synopsis of the FY 2022. They commended McDuffie County on their 
fiscal responsibility in the matters of debt to income ratio. Furthermore, the auditors stated that the no deficiencies 
were disclosed during the audit of the financial statements, no instances of noncompliance material and no 
deficiencies in internal control. Two Recommendations were presented: Policy and Procedure for financial 
transactions at the Recreation Department and enhanced financial monitoring at the solid waste site once 
connectivity is possible with broadband. County Manager Crawley stated both were already in progress.  

 
2) Consideration to Approve Budget Amendments.    

 
Upon the review of the recommended budget amendments presented on Monday, July 31st Work Session Chairman 
Newton opened the floor for a motion to approve the amendments. Commissioner Jopling made the motion to 
approve. The motion was seconded by Commissioner Thompson. The motion carried unanimously.  
 
3) Consideration to Approve the Lighting of Sweetwater Park.  

 
Upon the review of the recommendation made by County Manager Crawley, during the Work Session, to utilize 
SPLOST interest, instead of financing, Chairman Newton requested a motion to approve. Commissioner Jopling 
made a motion to approve. The motion was seconded by Vice Chairman Wilson. The motion carried unanimously.   

 
4) Consideration to Approve IT Surplus.    

 
Upon the review of the recommendation to surplus IT equipment during Work Session, Chairman Newton requested 
a motion to approve. Commissioner Thompson made a motion to approve. The motion was seconded by 
Commissioner Jopling. The motion carried unanimously.   

 
5) Consideration to Approve the June ACO Report. 

 
Tax Commissioner Thomas provided an overview of the June ACO Report. Chairman Newton requested a motion to 
approve. Commissioner Favors made a motion to approve. The motion was seconded by Vice Chairman Wilson. The 
motion carried unanimously.   

 
ADJOURNMENT  
 

Chairman Newton asked if any other business needed to be presented, with no other business, the meeting was 
adjourned. 
 

MCDUFFIE COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
 
 

_____________________________________ ATTEST: ______________________________ 
Charles G Newton, IV, Chairman 
 

               Carrie Edwards, County Clerk 

 



STAFF REPORT 

MCDUFFIE COMMISSION MEETING: August 15, 2023 

DATE: August 14, 2023  
TO: McDuffie County Board of Commissioners 
FROM: David Crawley 
ISSUE: Consideration to approve variances and subdivision review for Bent Creek Village, located 

on the Thomson East Bypass, Parcel Number 00400094B00 

CURRENT ZONE:  R-2 (Medium Density Residential District)
PROPOSED ZONE: No Change
ACREAGE:  29.47-acre tract

BACKGROUND: The owner of the proposed subdivision requests variances to allow the development of 
multi-family and single-family residences.  The minimum lot for townhomes would be 20’ x 100’ and single 
family lots would be 45’ x 120’.  Additionally, the developer request to reduce the side setback 7.5’ for 
single family and 5’ for townhomes with a rear setback of 10’.      

PLANNING BOARD RECOMMENDATION: Planning commissioners unanimously voted to make the 
recommendation to allow the variance to increase the number of lots from 102 to 137 and reinforced the 
previous conditions placed during the County Commission’s original approval of the subdivision in July 
2021. In addition, they added the following conditions: 

1. Landscape plan subject to approval for buffer areas and greenspace.
2. Buffers and greenspace maintained by HOA.
3. Additional emergency access provided in accordance with subdivision plan.
4. All exterior facades either brick, stone, masonry, or masonry composite.

FACTS AND FINDINGS: 
1. The subject property is currently zoned R-2.
2. The proposed changes include shifting the development north away from the wetlands and

retention pond. This shift provided a modification to original plans of 102 homes and allowed for
35 additional townhomes for a total of 137.

3. The development would still include all previous requirements to include: stone fronts, hardy
board siding, street lights, fence around retention pond, emergency entrance and exit, green
space to include park, and front evergreen shrubbery.

4. Previous conditions approved by the County Commission that the development be connected to
public sewer and the buffer be landscaped.

ALTERNATIVES: 
1. The County Commission approves the variance request.
2. The County Commission denies the variance request.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends approval of the variance request. 



ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Variance Application 
2. Tax Map 

 









STAFF REPORT 
 
MCDUFFIE COUNTY COMMISSION MEETING: August 15, 2023 
 
DATE: August 11, 2023 
TO: McDuffie County Board of Commissioners 
FROM: Carrie Edwards   
ISSUE: Assistance to Firefighters Grant (AFG)  
 
BACKGROUND: The primary goal of the Assistance to Firefighters Grant (AFG) is to meet the 
firefighting and emergency response needs of fire departments and non-affiliated emergency medical 
service organizations. 

Since 2001, AFG has helped firefighters and other first responders obtain critically needed equipment, 
protective gear, emergency vehicles, training and other resources necessary for protecting the public 
and emergency personnel from fire and related hazards. 

FACTS AND FINDINGS: 
Chief Sewell provided information regarding the grant for Fire-Line, Inc. to upgrade firefighter 
equipment.  
 
The quote is $ 248,995.00 (price good until 09.10.2023) 
The Awarded amount from AFG is $ 175,040.90.  
Needed Funds Total $73,954.10.  
 
Requesting additional funds from SPLOST.  
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends approval of the request. 
 
  







{01882798-1} Page 1 of 11 

AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF 
MCDUFFIE COUNTY AND COMCAST CABLE COMMUNICATIONS, 

LLC FOR BROADBAND EXPANSION PROJECT 
 

This Agreement is dated [DATE] between The Development Authority of McDuffie County, 
hereinafter referred  to as the “Authority,” and Comcast Cable Communications, LLC, hereinafter 
referred to as “Comcast,” each a “Party” and together, the “Parties.” 

 
WHEREAS, the Authority is a development authority and public body corporate and politic 

created by the Development Authorities Law, O.C.G.A. § 36-62-1 et seq. (the “Act”), to develop 
and promote trade, commerce, industry and employment opportunities in McDuffie County (the 
“County”); and 
 

WHEREAS, the Act provides that the Authority is created to develop and promote trade, 
commerce, industry and employment opportunities for the public good and the general welfare 
within the County and is authorized specifically by the Act to invest in improvements to 
community antennae television systems and the expansion and development of the cable 
communications industry in areas not currently, adequately served by private enterprise (O.C.G.A. 
§ 36-62-2(6)(L)) and in an economic development project under O.C.G.A. § 36-62-2(6)(N); and 
 

WHEREAS, the Act further authorizes and empowers the Authority to do any and all acts 
and things necessary or convenient to accomplish the purpose and powers of the Authority; and 
 

WHEREAS, Comcast is engaged in the cable communications industry and serves an area 
of the County, but, in common with many rural areas and small communities, the improvement of 
the system in the area with modern broadband capabilities is challenging for private enterprise 
acting alone; and 
 

WHEREAS, the United States Congress has enacted the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021, 
Pub. Law 117-2 (H. R. 1319) (“ARP”), in part to mitigate the negative fiscal consequences of the 
Covid-19 pandemic by providing grants to state and local governments for public investment in, 
among other purposes, upgrading the community antennae television systems in rural areas and 
small communities with modern broadband infrastructure through ARP Section 9901 (enacting 42 
U.S.C. §§ 802, 803); and 
 

WHEREAS, the Authority is a “special-purpose unit of State or local government” 
authorized by 42 U.S.C. §§ 802(c)(3) and 803(c)(3) to receive transfers of ARP broadband grants 
from the State or from the County, respectively, for investments consistent with ARP and the Act; 
and 
 

WHEREAS, the Authority desires to support the addition and upgrade of broadband 
infrastructure to Comcast’s service area in the County and to contribute to the installation of such 
broadband infrastructure for use in connection with Comcast’s operations in the County to serve 
the public interest of bringing broadband to residences and businesses in the Project Area, as 
defined below; and 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to an Intergovernmental Agreement dated _________, the Authority 
has received and is authorized to expend $3,969,903 of SPLOST funds and American Rescue Plan 
Act of 2021(“ARP”) funds from the County, $3,817,531.00 in Georgia Broadband Grant funds, 



{01882798-1} Page 2 of 11 

and $200,000 of ARP funds from the McDuffie County Board of Education to ensure that 
unserved residents and businesses in McDuffie County have access to broadband in order to 
promote economic development within the Project Area; and 
 

WHEREAS, Comcast has determined to invest $2,492,111 in additional installation costs and 
improvements in its service area in the County to enhance broadband capabilities, as more particularly 
described in Exhibit “A” hereto; and 
 

WHEREAS, Comcast will design, build, own, operate, manage and maintain a cable 
network extension that  will provide access to broadband internet service to certain unserved 
residents in the Project Area as more fully described in Exhibit A hereto (the “Project”); and 
 
WHEREAS, the Authority and Comcast intend to fund the Project as set forth in this Agreement; 

 
Now THEREFORE, the parties hereto do mutually agree as follows: 

 
1. Definitions. 

a) “Broadband Service” means high speed internet service capable of  providing broadband 
speeds of at least up to 1 Gbps/1 Gbps.  The deployed network will be capable of multi-
gigabit symmetrical services.   
 

b) “Cable Franchise Agreement” means any grant of authority issued to Comcast by 
the appropriate municipalities and jurisdictions across the Project Area to own 
and operate its network in the public rights of way. 
 

c) “Confidential Information” means, but is not limited to, information, drawings, data, 
specifications, technical information, and other information or materials furnished or 
made available by the disclosing Party to the receiving Party that reasonably should be 
considered proprietary and/or confidential and/or that the disclosing Party has indicated 
is proprietary and/or confidential. 
 

 
d) "Excusable Delay Event" means a delay that results from: (1) an event described in 

Section  13 of this Agreement that impacts Comcast’s ability to achieve Final 
Completion of the Project- including, but not limited to a make-ready work that is not 
completed within six (6) months of Comcast's submission of a proper application for 
utility pole attachments. 
 

e) “Final Completion” means the date certified in writing by Comcast that construction of 
the  Network has been completed by the Comcast and the locations in the Project Area 
are Serviceable. 
 

f) “Network” means the cable communications network extension that Comcast 
builds in the Project Area. 
 

g) Project means the work funded by Comcast and the Authority under this 
Agreement.   

 
h) “Project Area” means the residential or business addresses intended to be served by 



{01882798-1} Page 3 of 11 

the Network funded by the Project as set forth in Exhibit A.  
 

i) “Serviceable” means a location in the Project Area which has access to the 
Broadband Service, subject to the installation conditions of the Cable Franchise 
Agreement. 

 
2. Term and Termination. 

a) This Agreement shall commence on ____________ (the “Effective Date”) and shall           
expire ten (10) years after the date of Final Completion, unless terminated sooner in 
accordance with the provisions of this Agreement.  
 

b) This Agreement may be terminated for default for a breach of any one or more material 
terms of   this Agreement that the breaching party fails to remedy in accordance with 
this section. In the event of a breach of one or more material terms of this Agreement, 
the non-breaching party must provide written notice of the breach(es) to the breaching 
party.  In the event that the breaching party does not cure the breach(es) within thirty 
(30) calendar days from receipt of the non-breaching party’s written notice (or such 
longer time to which the Parties may agree), the non-breaching party may terminate 
this Agreement, in whole or in part. 
 

c) Termination of this Agreement by either Party as permitted herein shall not limit the 
legal  rights and remedies otherwise available either Party. 

 
2. Project Description 

Comcast shall construct a Network capable of delivering Broadband Service to certain 
unserved premises in the Project Area. The Project Area includes an estimated two thousand 
four hundred and five (2,405) residential/business premises that currently lack access to 
Broadband Service.  

 
3. Performance of the Work. 

a) Comcast, a contractor as defined under 2 CFR 200.331(b), will design, build, own, 
operate, manage and maintain the Network that will provide access to Broadband 
Service in the Project Area. Upon Final Completion, Comcast will operate the Network 
consistent with the terms of its Cable Franchise Agreement.  
 

b) Final Completion of the Project shall be within Eighteen (18) months after Comcast 
receives all required permits, other permissions or consent necessary for the Project; 
provided, however, that the date for Final Completion will be extended for each day of 
delay caused by the occurrence of an Excusable Delay Event. The Parties agree that 
they have a shared interest in pursuing options that would expedite the construction 
and completion of the Project in order to accelerate access to Broadband Service in the 
Project Area. In furtherance of this shared interest, the Parties shall cooperate to 
identify appropriate mechanisms to accelerate Project performance, including, but not 
limited to assisting in expediting the issuance of necessary permits. 

 
 

c) Comcast acknowledges that it is solely responsible for all Project decisions, the 
preparation of all plans and specifications, and for developing, performing, and 



{01882798-1} Page 4 of 11 

completing the Project.  As a contractor under this Agreement, the Parties agree that 
Comcast shall not be required to engage in any competitive procurement as set forth in 2 
CFR 200.318-326.  
 

d) Upon the Authority’s request, As required by O.C.G.A. § 36-91-1 et al., Comcast shall 
procure and maintain during the term of this Agreement a cash bond or payment and 
performance bonds with a bonding company or insurance company acceptable to the 
Authority in a form acceptable to the Authority in an amount of 
$10,479,545.00$___________________. 
 

4. Project Personnel. 
Each Party shall provide written notice to the other Party within five (5) business days of the   
Effective Date identifying the person serving as each Party’s project manager to support 
effective communication and to report on the Project’s progress. Each Party’s notice shall also 
include the address, phone numbers, and email address for the Project Manager. In the event 
there is a change in a Party’s Project Manager, the affected Party shall provide (a) prompt 
written notice to the other Party of the change and (b) the new Project Manager’s contact 
information. 

 
5. Ownership of Project and Service Requirements. 

a) Comcast shall retain ownership in and have exclusive use of the Network and all 
equipment                              used or deployed in connection with the Project. All right, title, and 
interest in the Network, including all equipment, supplies, or intangibles acquired or 
improved in connection with the Network shall vest in Comcast and such ownership 
is not conditional. 

b) Comcast shall operate and maintain the Network consistent with applicable industry 
standards and offer the Broadband Service Serviceable location in the Project Area 
under terms, conditions and prices reasonably consistent with what Comcast offers to 
its customers in the Project Areaother areas of the County.  

 
6. Payment. 

a) In consideration of Comcast’s agreement to complete the Project, Authority  shall 
pay to Comcast an amount of  $7,987,434 payable as set forth in Section 7.  The 
Authority represents and warrants that they are authorized to expend such funds and 
that they shall comply with any and all applicable laws related to the expenditure of 
such funds.  Comcast shall not be required to offset any income received from the 
services it provides in the Project Area against any payment made by the Authority 
to Comcast under this Agreement.  
 

b) Comcast shall contribute $2,492,111 for the Project.  
 

7. Invoicing and Payment. 
a) Reporting/Payment Schedule 

i. Comcast shall submit invoices for payment and Project status reports to the 
Authority’s project                                      manager. 
 

ii. Comcast shall submit invoices, accompanied by a Project status report, with 
appropriate supporting documentation, to the Authority, no more frequently 



{01882798-1} Page 5 of 11 

than quarterly. Comcast shall be permitted to account for all cost expenditures 
submitted to the Authority using its existing GAAP accounting standards and 
shall not be subject to cost accounting standards set forth in 2 CFR 200 
Subpart E or 48 CFR Part 31.  
 

iii. The Authority shall pay Comcast within thirty (30) days of receipt of an invoice 
and Project status report.  

 
8. Confidentiality. 

a) To the extent permitted under applicable law, the Parties agree that during and after the 
expiration or termination of this Agreement, neither Party, nor any person, firm, 
corporation or other entity affiliated with, owned in whole or in part by, employed by or 
otherwise connected with the receiving Party, shall directly or indirectly, without the 
express written consent of the disclosing Party, divulge, use, sell, exchange, furnish, give 
away, or transfer in any way the Confidential Information of the disclosing Party. 

 
b) To the extent permitted under applicable law, the Parties agree that, during the term of 

this Agreement and for a period of three (3) years from the expiration or termination 
thereof, any Confidential Information received from the other Party:  

 
i. will only be used for the purpose of performing obligations and exercising rights 

under the Agreement;  
 
ii. will not be disclosed to any third party without prior written approval of the 

disclosing Party, except for disclosures to third parties that are expressly 
contemplated hereunder;  

 
iii. may only be disclosed within the receiving Party’s organization to employees 

that have a “need-to-know” such information in connection with the 
performance of the receiving Party’s obligations under the Agreement and who 
have been advised of the obligations regarding Confidential Information under 
the Agreement;  

 
iv. will be treated with at least the same degree of care as the receiving Party treats 

its own Confidential Information, but in no event less than a reasonable degree 
of care;  

 
v. will be copied only to the extent necessary for the purposes of this Agreement; 

and  
 
vi. will remain the property of the disclosing Party.  

 
c)  In the event that the receiving Party is served with a subpoena or other validly issued 

administrative or judicial process demanding the Confidential Information of the 
disclosing Party, the receiving Party shall promptly notify the disclosing Party so that the 
disclosing Party may seek a protective order or other remedy. The Parties shall 
reasonably cooperate with each other to quash such process or otherwise to limit the 
scope of any required disclosure. Unless the demand shall have been timely limited, 
quashed, or extended, the receiving Party shall be entitled to comply with such demand 



{01882798-1} Page 6 of 11 

to the extent permitted by law. In the event that disclosure of any Confidential 
Information is compelled, either Party shall seek an appropriate protective order from the 
court or administrative body to limit access to the Confidential Information.  

 
d) Upon the expiration or termination of this Agreement and upon the disclosing Party’s 

request, the receiving Party shall destroy all Confidential Information and provide, 
within ten (10) days of the disclosing Party’s request, a written certification that all 
Confidential Information in all formats, including without limitation, paper, electronic 
and disk form, has been destroyed. 
 

e) Each Party acknowledges that unauthorized disclosure or use of the other Party's 
Confidential Information could cause irreparable harm and significant injury to the 
disclosing Party that may be difficult to ascertain.  Accordingly, each Party agrees that 
the disclosing party shall have the right to seek immediate injunctive relief from breach 
or threatened breach of this Agreement prohibiting any unauthorized disclosure or use of 
the Confidential Information, in addition to any other rights and remedies the disclosing 
Party may have. 
 

f)       The confidentiality provisions of this section shall survive the termination or expiration 
of this Agreement as provided for in section 8.b). 

 
9. Limitation of Liability and Indemnity. 

a) NOTWITHSTANDING ANY PROVISION IN THIS AGREEMENT TO THE 
CONTRARY, UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCE OR LEGAL THEORY (TORT, 
CONTRACT OR OTHERWISE), SHALL EITHER PARTY BE LIABLE TO THE 
OTHER FOR INDIRECT, EXEMPLARY, SPECIAL, OR CONSEQUENTIAL 
DAMAGES INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, LOSS OF REVENUE, PROFIT 
OR USE OR COST OF CAPITAL OR OF SUBSTITUTE USE OR PERFORMANCE 
(COLLECTIVELY “CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES”), ARISING UNDER THIS 
AGREEMENT, IRRESPECTIVE OF WHETHER OR NOT THEPARTY HAS BEEN 
ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. 

 
b) THE MAXIMUM LIABILITY OF COMCAST UNDER THIS AGREEMENT SHALL 

NOT EXCEED THE AMOUNT THE AUTHORITYWILL PAY TO COMCAST AS 
SET FORTH IN SECTION 6.a OF THIS AGREEMENT. 

 
c) NOTHING HEREIN SHALL BE DEEMED TO BE AN OBLIGATION OF ANY 

DIRECTOR, OFFICER, MEMBER, AGENT OR EMPLOYEE OF THE AUTHORITY 
IN HIS OR HER INDIVIDUAL CAPACITY.  NO DIRECTOR, OFFICER, MEMBER, 
AGENT OR EMPLOYEE OF THE AUTHORITY SHALL INCUR ANY PERSONAL 
LIABILITY WITH RESPECT TO ANY OTHER ACTION TAKEN BY HIM OR HER 
PURSUANT TO THIS AGREEMENT. 

 
d) Comcast shall, to the extent permitted by applicable law, indemnify and save the 

Authority and its officers, directors, members, agents, and employees harmless against 
and from 1) all claims by or on behalf of any person, firm, corporation, or governmental 
entity arising from or relating to, directly or indirectly, this Agreement, 2) any uncured 
breach or default on the part of Comcast in the performance of any of its obligations 
under this Agreement, 3) any sub-contract entered into by Comcast in connection with 

Commented [A1]: County Comment: This language is 
taken from the prior lease agreement.  Indemnification of the 
Authority members/officers/directors is mandatory.  Further, 
if Comcast is to have the ability to subcontract and/or assign 
any portion of the work/services, it is mandatory that it 
indemnify for the subcontractors/assignees actions.  Further, 
the indemnification period cannot be limited.  Applicable 
limitations periods will govern. 

Commented [A2R1]: Comcast Response: Legal proposed 
limited revisions to better align with the County's proposed 
changes. 3) should also address the County's subcontracting 
concerns.  

Commented [A3R1]: Again, we require indemnification 
for the negligent actions of Comcast's subs/assignees. 

Commented [A4R1]: Comcast Response: accepted 
County's edits but would like to mirror the negligence 
references between these parties.  I.e., either both 
"negligence" or " gross negligence" for both indemnity 
obligations. 

Commented [A5R1]: One addition to make clear only 
indemnifying for Comcast's negligence. 



{01882798-1} Page 7 of 11 

the Project, and 4) any act of negligence of Comcast or of any of its agents, contractors, 
employees, assignees, sublessees, or subcontractors related to the Project, but only to the 
extent of their negligence.  Nothing contained herein shall require Comcast to indemnify 
the Authority or its officers, directors, agents, employees and attorneys for any claim or 
liability resulting from the Authority’s or any such officer, director, agent, employee or 
attorney’s own willful misconduct or negligence. The obligations under this Section 
shall survive the termination of this Agreement and shall continue in full force and 
effect, binding the Parties to the provisions of this Section without regard to the manner 
of termination of this Agreement. 
 

10. Changes. 
In the event the Authority requests any change to the Project that causes an increase in the cost 
or time required for performance of the Project, Comcast shall notify the Authority of such 
increase within thirty (30) calendar days from the date of receipt of the Authority’s written 
request.  If the Parties agree to such changes in writing, the funding for the Project and the 
Final Completion date shall be equitably adjusted to incorporate such changes. Any request 
for work to be performed by Comcast outside the scope of this Agreement must be addressed 
under a separate agreement executed by the Parties prior to performance.  
 

11. Assignment; Transfer. 
Neither Party may assign this Agreement in whole or in part, or delegate any of its duties or 
obligations thereunder, without the prior written consent of the other Party, except that without 
such consent Comcast (i) may assign this Agreement to a successor (by purchase, merger, 
operation of law, or otherwise) to all or substantially all of its business; and (ii) may assign 
this Agreement to an affiliate or subsidiary, provided such entity agrees in writing to be bound 
by the terms hereof. Any purported assignment in contravention of this section shall be null 
and void. Subject to the foregoing, this Agreement will bind and inure to the benefit of any 
permitted successors or assigns. Nothing herein is intended to limit Comcast’s use of third-
party consultants and contractors to perform the Project. 
 
 

12. Nondiscrimination. 
Comcast agrees to comply with all applicable federal, state, and local statutes, rules and 
regulations promoting fair employment practices or prohibiting employment discrimination 
and unfair labor                         practices.  Comcast shall not discriminate in the hiring of any applicant for 
employment nor shall any qualified Comcast employee be demoted, discharged or otherwise 
subject to discrimination in the tenure, position, promotional opportunities, wages benefits or 
terms and conditions of their employment                                           because of race, color, national origin, ancestry, 
age, sex, religion, disability, handicap, sexual orientation, gender identification, or for 
exercising any rights afforded by law. 

 
13. Excusable Delay Event. 

Neither party shall be liable to the other or be deemed to be in breach of this Agreement for 
any failure or delay in rendering performance arising out of causes beyond its reasonable 
control and         without its fault or negligence. Such causes may include, but are not limited to, 
acts of God or of a public entity, fires, floods, epidemics, quarantine restrictions, strikes, 
freight embargoes, unusually severe weather, supply chain disruptions, labor shortages, or 
delays in securing the required permits, easements, or utility pole make-ready.  
Notwithstanding the above, Comcast will inform the Authority of any Excusable Delay 



{01882798-1} Page 8 of 11 

Events within thirty (30) days of the occurrence of said event.  
 

14. Governing Law and Venue. 
This Agreement shall be interpreted and enforced in accordance with the laws of the Georgia 
without regard to its conflict of laws principles.  Any dispute arising under this Agreement 
that is not settled between the Parties shall take place in any court of competent jurisdiction in 
Georgia. Each Party shall bear its respective legal costs. TO THE FULLEST EXTENT 
PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, EACH PARTY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY 
RIGHT IT MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN CONNECTION WITH ANY 
LITIGATION ARISING OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT. 

 
15. Compliance With Laws. 

a) In general.  The Parties agree to comply with all applicable local, state and federal 
laws, regulations, and ordinances in the performance of this Agreement.  

b) 2 CFR 200 and 48 CFR Part 31.  Other than those sections of 2 CFR 200 or 48 CFR 
Part 31 specifically cited in this Agreement, Comcast shall only be required to comply 
with those sections of 2 CFR 200 Appendix II applicable to a for profit contractor.  

c) Prevailing wage laws.  In the event Comcast is required to comply with a prevailing 
wage labor requirement, the Authority acknowledges that it shall be the Authority’s 
responsibility to provide Comcast with the specific wage determinations applicable to 
the work to be performed by Comcast under this Agreement that will be subject to 
such requirement.  Any failure of the Authority to do so that delays Comcast’s 
performance under this Agreement shall be deemed an Excusable Delay Event.  

 
16. Modification; Amendment. 

This Agreement shall not be modified or amended, in whole or in part, except by written 
agreement signed by the Parties. 
 

17. Survival. 
The provisions of this Agreement that, by their sense and context, are intended to survive 
performance by either Party or the Parties shall also survive the completion, expiration, 
termination, or cancellation of this Agreement. 

 
18. Headings; Exhibits. 

 The headings of paragraphs in this Agreement are for convenience only; they form no part of 
this Agreement and shall not affect its interpretation. All schedules, exhibits or attachments 
referred to in this Agreement shall be incorporated in and constitute a part of this Agreement. 

  
19. Construction. 

The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this Agreement shall not affect the 
validity or enforceability of any other provision of this Agreement, which shall otherwise 
remain in full force and effect. 
 

20. Counterparts. 
This Agreement may be executed and delivered in counterparts, all of which taken together 
shall constitute a single instrument. 
 

21. Entire Understanding. 
This Agreement constitutes the entire understanding of the parties related to the subject matter 



{01882798-1} Page 9 of 11 

hereof, and supersedes all prior agreements, proposals, representations, statements, or 
understandings, whether written or oral, concerning the Project or the Parties’ rights or 
obligations relating to the Project. 

 
22. Waivers. 

Conditions, covenants, duties and obligations contained in this Agreement may be waived 
only by written agreement executed by the Parties. Forbearance or indulgence in any form or 
manner by a                       Party shall not be construed as a waiver, nor in any way limit the remedies 
available to that Party. 

 
23. Notice. 

Any notice provided in accordance with this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be 
sent by  electronic mail to the Project Manager with a copy to the individuals listed below. 

 
Authority:  Chairman  
  Development Authority of McDuffie County 
  149 Main St. 
  Thomson, GA 30824 
 
with a copy to:  County Manager 
  Board of Commissioners of  
  McDuffie County  
  210 Railroad Street 
  Thomson, GA 30824 
 
  and 
 
  Hull Barrett, P.C. 
  P.O. Box 1564 
  Augusta, GA 30903 
  Attention:  Davis Dunaway 
 

 
Comcast:  Comcast Cable Communications Management, LLC 
  2605 Circle 75 Parkway SE 
  Atlanta, GA 30092     

 Attention: Melinda Little 
 
  Comcast Cable Communications Management, LLC 
  One Comcast Center, 32nd FL  
  Philadelphia, PA 19103  
  Attention: Tracy Haslett 
 

Any notice shall be deemed delivered and received when submitted in writing in person or when 
delivered by any other appropriate method evidencing actual receipt by the receiving party. 

 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed by a duly 
authorized representative by their hands and seals, intending to be so bound, as of the day and year 



{01882798-1} Page 10 of 11 

first above written. 
 
ATTEST:  _________________________________ 

 
 
COMCAST CABLE COMMUNICATIONS, LLC 
 
By: ________________________________________ 
 
Name: ______________________________________ 
 
Title: _______________________________________ 
 
 
ATTEST: ___________________________________ 
 
 
THE DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF MCDUFFIE COUNTY  
 
By: ________________________________________ 
 
Name: ______________________________________ 
 
Title: _______________________________________ 

 
 
 
 
 

  



{01882798-1} Page 11 of 11 

EXHIBIT A - DESCRIPTION OF MCDUFFIE COUNTY BROADBAND EXPANSION 
 
 

At the time of execution of this Agreement, the Company currently serves certain parts of McDuffie 
County (the “County”), (the “McDuffie System,” depicted                 in red in the map below). The McDuffie 
System today delivers communications services to many residents across the County but does not 
extend to other rural areas and small communities across the area. The Company will extend the 
McDuffie System (depicted in blue in the map below), comprised of approximately 276.98 miles of 
new plant, primarily with Ethernet Passive Optical Network (“EPON”) – technology. The upgraded 
network will tie into                 the Company’s existing network currently serving other areas of McDuffie County 
and will deliver high-speed broadband services to an estimated 2,405 homes and businesses. As of the 
time of the execution of this Agreement, the Company projects that the upgrade project will be 
completed within eighteen (18) months. 

 
Comcast will deploy Ethernet Passive Optical Network (“EPON”) technology, a fiber-to-the-home 
(“FTTH”) broadband infrastructure solution, to the overwhelming majority of the locations included 
in the project area. This fiber infrastructure will be capable of multi-gigabit symmetrical services. In 
limited instances, while building out EPON infrastructure, the most cost-effective and efficient solution 
to extend broadband to a small percentage of locations may be through our hybrid fiber-coaxial 
(“HFC”) technology – considering both efficiency and speed of deployment. This would principally 
be the case where currently unserved locations are intermingled with or adjacent to those locations that 
are already served by Comcast’s existing network infrastructure.  This plant will be capable of 
providing gigabit speeds, in excess of the federal broadband definition.  This HFC network is also 
eligible for next-generation DOCSIS 4.0 upgrades. Specific product offerings will be based on then-
current consumer demand and market conditions. Technology decisions are driven by several variables 
including the type and the proximity of the existing network and the specific environmental 
characteristics of the proposed project area.  
 
The total project cost of extending the McDuffie System is estimated to be $10,479,545. With the 
Authority’s investment of $7,987,434, the Company will invest an estimated $2,492,545, to extend the 
McDuffie System. 
 
 
 



{01745507-1}  

INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN 

THE CITY OF THOMSON, GEORGIA, THE TOWN OF DEARING, GEORGIA, 
MCDUFFIE COUNTY, GEORGIA, THE MCDUFFIE COUNTY BOARD OF 

EDUCATION, AND THE DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF MCDUFFIE COUNTY 
FOR FUNDING BROADBAND IMPROVEMENTS 

 
 
 THIS INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT (this “IGA”) is entered into by and 
among THE CITY OF THOMSON, GEORGIA, THE TOWN OF DEARING, GEORGIA 
(each a “City” and collectively the “Cities”), MCDUFFIE COUNTY, GEORGIA (the 
“County”), the MCDUFFIE COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION (the “Board”), and the 
DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF MCDUFFIE COUNTY (the “Authority”) on the ______ 
day of _______________, 2022. 
 

WHEREAS, the County is a duly created and existing political subdivision of the State of 
Georgia, and the Cities are duly created and existing municipal corporations of the State of 
Georgia; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Board was duly created and validly exists as the governing body of the 

McDuffie County School District; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Authority was duly created and is a validly existing public authority 
pursuant to the Development Authorities Law, O.C.G.A. § 36-62-1 et seq. (the “Development 
Authorities Law”); and 
 

WHEREAS, Comcast Cable Communications Management, LLC (the “Company”) is 
engaged in the cable communications industry and serves an area of the County, but, in common 
with many rural areas and small communities, the improvement of the system in the area with 
modern broadband capabilities is challenging for private enterprise acting alone; and 

WHEREAS, the Company has determined to invest $2,625,000 in installation costs and 
improvements in its service area in the County to enhance broadband capabilities (the “McDuffie 
County Broadband Improvements”); and  

WHEREAS, the United States Congress has enacted the American Rescue Plan Act of 
2021, Pub. Law 117-2 (H. R. 1319) (“ARP”), in part to mitigate the negative fiscal consequences 
of the Covid-19 pandemic by providing grants to state and local governments for public investment 
in, among other purposes, upgrading the community antennae television systems in rural areas and 
small communities with modern broadband infrastructure through ARP Section 9901 (enacting 42 
U.S.C. §§ 802, 803); and 

WHEREAS, the County and the Board have received certain allocations of ARP funds, 
and desire to contract with the Authority to provide services, including particularly the granting, 
administration and management of the ARP funds for the development, upgrading and expansion 
of certain broadband infrastructure within the County; and 

 



{01745507-1} 2 

WHEREAS, O.C.G.A. § 48-8-110 et seq. authorizes the levy of a one percent County 
Special Purpose Local Option Sales Tax (the “SPLOST”) for the purpose of financing capital 
outlay projects for the use and benefit of the County and qualified municipalities within the 
County; and  

 
WHEREAS, in an election held on November 3, 2020, in McDuffie County, Georgia, a 

SPLOST was approved, which included as a capital outlay project Broadband Phase I; and 
 
WHEREAS, the County and the Cities have received certain allocations of SPLOST 

funds, and desire to contract with the Authority to provide services, including particularly the 
granting, administration and management of the SPLOST funds for the development, upgrading 
and expansion of certain broadband infrastructure within the County; and 

 
WHEREAS, the County and the Cities are permitted by Article IX, Section III, Paragraph 

I (a) of the Constitution of the State of Georgia of 1983, as amended, to contract with any public 
authority for a period not exceeding fifty (50) years for joint services, for the provision of services, 
or for the joint or separate use of facilities or equipment, provided that such contract deals with 
activities, services or facilities which the contracting parties are authorized by law to undertake or 
to provide; and 
 

WHEREAS, the County desires specifically to provide certain ARP funds, the County and 
the Cities desire specifically to provide certain SPLOST funds, and the Board desires specifically 
to provide certain ARP funds (collectively, the “Funds”) to the Authority, which Funds are to be 
made available to the Company in its development and expansion of the McDuffie County 
Broadband Improvements; and  

 
WHEREAS, the Authority is created to develop and promote trade, commerce, industry 

and employment opportunities for the public good and the general welfare within the County and 
is authorized specifically by the Act to invest in improvements to community antennae television 
systems and the expansion and development of the cable communications industry in areas not 
currently adequately served by private enterprise (O.C.G.A. § 36-62-2(6)(L)) and in an economic 
development project under O.C.G.A. § 36-62-2(6)(N), and development of broadband cable assets 
is determined under O.C.G.A. § 50-40-81(b)(2) to promote trade commerce and industry; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Authority hereby finds and determines that in performing its functions 
under this IGA it will be furthering its public purposes; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the County, the Cities and the Board desire to contract with the Authority for 
the provision of the services as described herein with respect to the management and 
administration of the Funds. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, for due and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of 
which are hereby acknowledged, the County, the Cities, the Board and the Authority agree as 
follows: 
 



{01745507-1} 3 

1. Funds Deposited with Authority:  The County and the Cities hereby agree to transfer to the 
Authority the sum of $355,097.00 of SPLOST funds, the County hereby agrees to transfer to the 
Authority the sum of $7,321,903.00 of ARP funds, and the Board hereby agrees to transfer to the 
Authority the sum of $200,000.00 of ARP funds.  Each such transfer represents funds of the 
County, the Cities, and/or the Board for the purposes described in this IGA.  The Authority agrees 
to create an account, separate from all other funds of the Authority, designated “2022 ARP Grant 
and SPLOST Funds Account,” into which the Funds will be deposited.   
 
2.  Provision of Funds to Company; Disposition of Remaining Funds:  The Authority agrees 
to make the Funds available to the Company, but only in accordance with the terms and conditions 
of a Lease Agreement with the Company substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit “A” 
(the “Lease Agreement”).  The Authority agrees to enter into and abide by the terms of the Lease 
Agreement. In the event that (i) Funds remain on deposit with the Authority upon termination of 
the Lease Agreement, or (ii) the Company repays any Funds to the Authority pursuant to the terms 
of the Lease Agreement, then the Authority will transfer such Funds to the County, the Cities, and 
the Board on a pro rata basis, based on amounts initially deposited.   
 
3. Term: The term of this IGA is effective as of ______________, 2022 and terminates on 
June 30, 2038 (up to 50 years).   

 
4.  Governing Law:  This IGA shall be interpreted and construed in accordance with the laws 
of the State of Georgia. 

 
5.  Notices:  All notices, demands and requests required under this IGA must be in writing and 
sent to the parties in the manner described below: 
 

(a)  Addresses: 
 

To the County:  McDuffie County 
210 Railroad Street 
Thomson, GA 30824 
Attention: County Manager 
Email: dcrawley@thomson-mcduffie.net  
 

with a copy to:  Hull Barrett P.C. 
P.O. Box 1564 
Augusta, Georgia 30903 
Attention: Davis A. Dunaway, Esq. 
Email:  ddunaway@hullbarrett.com 

 
To Thomson, GA:  City of Thomson 

210 Railroad Street 
Thomson, GA 30824 
Attention: City Administrator 
Email: john.waller@thomson-mcduffie.net   
 

mailto:dcrawley@thomson-mcduffie.net
mailto:ddunaway@hullbarrett.com
mailto:john.waller@thomson-mcduffie.net


{01745507-1} 4 

with a copy to:  Jimmy Plunkett, Esq. 
   234 Main Street 

Thomson, GA 30824 
Email:  plunkettlaw@gmail.com  
 

To Dearing, GA:  Town of Dearing 
4577 Augusta Highway 
Dearing, GA 30808 
Attention: Mayor 
Email: kbprintinc@gmail.com  

 
with a copy to:  Knox and Swan 

114 Knox Shopping Center 
Thomson, GA 30824 
Attention: Robert E. Knox, Jr., Esq. 
Email:  bknox@knoxandswanattorneys.com  

 
To the Board:  McDuffie County Board of Education 
   716 North Lee Street 
   Thomson, GA 30824 
   Attention:  Chairman 
   E-mail:  knoxa@mcduffie.k12.ga.us  
 
with a copy to:  Knox and Swan 

114 Knox Shopping Center 
Thomson, GA 30824 
Attention: Robert E. Knox, Jr., Esq. 
Email:  bknox@knoxandswanattorneys.com  

 
 

To the Authority:  Development Authority of McDuffie County 
149 Main St. 
Thomson, GA 30824 
Attention:  Chairman 
Email:  don.powers@thomson-mcduffie.net  

 
with a copy to:  Hull Barrett P.C. 

P.O. Box 1564 
Augusta, Georgia 30903 
Attention: Davis A. Dunaway, Esq. 
Email:  ddunaway@hullbarrett.com 

 
(b)  Delivery:  All notices given by either party to the other under this IGA must be in 

writing and may be delivered by: (i) regular mail, first-class mail, postage prepaid; (ii) certified or 
registered mail; (iii) overnight courier (such as United Parcel Service or Federal Express); (iv) sent 

mailto:plunkettlaw@gmail.com
mailto:kbprintinc@gmail.com
mailto:bknox@knoxandswanattorneys.com
mailto:knoxa@mcduffie.k12.ga.us
mailto:bknox@knoxandswanattorneys.com
mailto:don.powers@thomson-mcduffie.net
mailto:ddunaway@hullbarrett.com


{01745507-1} 5 

electronically by email (provided a copy of such notice is deposited with an overnight courier for 
next business day delivery); or (v) hand delivery, to the parties at the addresses specified above. 

 
(c)  Receipt:  Notices sent by mail will be deemed received (i) three (3) days after 

deposit in the mail, properly addressed, (ii) upon deposit with such overnight courier for next 
business day delivery or (iii) upon confirmed email transmission (provided a copy of such notice 
is deposited with an overnight courier for next business day delivery).  Notices sent by certified or 
registered mail will be deemed to be received upon the date of the acknowledgement. Notices 
delivered by hand delivery will be deemed to be received upon written acceptance by the respective 
party. 

 
6.  Entire Agreement:  This IGA contains the entire agreement of the parties with respect to 
its subject matter and no representations or agreements, or otherwise, which are not set forth in 
this IGA will be of any force or effect. 
 
7.  Counterparts:  This IGA may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be 
an original and all constitute one and the same instrument. 
 
8.  Amendments:  This IGA may be amended in writing by mutual agreement of the parties. 
 
9. Non-Assignability; No Reliance or Beneficiaries:  No party shall assign any of the 
obligations or benefits of this IGA.  There are no third-party beneficiaries to this IGA, and no third 
person or party may rely on the undertakings of the Cities, the County, or the Authority hereunder 
or make any claim based thereon. 
 
10. Severability, Venue and Enforceability:  If a court of competent jurisdiction renders any 
provision of this IGA (or portion of a provision) to be invalid or otherwise unenforceable, that 
provision or portion of the provision will be severed and the remainder of this IGA will continue 
in full force and effect as if the invalid provision or portion of the provision were not part of this 
IGA.  No action taken pursuant to this IGA should be deemed to constitute a waiver of compliance 
with any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement contained in this IGA and will not operate 
or be construed as a waiver of any subsequent breach, whether of a similar or dissimilar nature.  
Should any party institute suit concerning this IGA, venue shall be in the Superior Court of 
McDuffie County, Georgia.  Should any provision of this IGA require judicial interpretation, it is 
agreed that the court interpreting or construing the same shall not apply a presumption that the 
terms hereof shall be more strictly construed against one party by reason of the rule of construction 
that a document is to be construed more strictly against the party who itself or through its agent 
prepared the same, it being agreed that the agents of all parties have participated in the preparation 
hereof. 
 

[Signatures on following page] 
 
  



{01745507-1} 6 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Authority, the County, the Cities and the Board have 
executed this IGA through their duly authorized officers. 
 

 
 
 
MCDUFFIE COUNTY, GEORGIA 
 
 
By:______________________________ (SEAL) 
Chairman, Board of Commissioners 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
       
Clerk of the Board of Commissioners  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

[Signatures continued on following page] 



{01745507-1} 7 

MCDUFFIE COUNTY BOARD OF 
EDUCATION 
 
 
By:______________________________(SEAL) 
Chairman  
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
       
Secretary   
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

[Signatures continued on following page] 
  



{01745507-1} 8 

 
 

CITY OF THOMSON, GEORGIA 
 
 
By:______________________________(SEAL) 
Mayor  
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
       
Secretary   
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

[Signatures continued on following page] 
  



{01745507-1} 9 

 
 
 
 

TOWN OF DEARING, GEORGIA 
 
 
By:______________________________(SEAL) 
Mayor  
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
       
Secretary   
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

[Signatures continued on following page] 
       
  



{01745507-1} 10 

 
 

DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF 
MCDUFFIE COUNTY, GEORGIA 
 
 
By:      (SEAL) 
Chairman 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
       
Secretary  
 
 

 
  



{01745507-1} 11 

EXHIBIT “A” 
 

FORM OF LEASE AGREEMENT 
 

(attached) 



 

 
Page 1 of 15 

STATE OF GEORGIA  
COUNTY OF MCDUFFIE 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT   
BY AND BETWEEN  

MCDUFFIE COUNTY, GEORGIA,  
THE CITY OF THOMSON, GEORGIA,   

AND 
THE TOWN OF DEARING  

REGARDING CONSOLIDATION OF CITY FIRE AND COUNTY FIRE AND EMS 
 
 

THIS INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT is made and entered into as of the ___ day of ________ 
2023, by and between the City of Thomson, Georgia, a municipal corporation organized and existing under the 
laws of the State of Georgia ("Thomson"), the Town of Dearing, a municipal corporation organized and existing 
under the laws of the State of Georgia (“Dearing”), and McDuffie County, Georgia, a political subdivision of the 
State of Georgia (the "County"). 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Thomson and the County have the responsibility for providing Fire Services in 
the Thomson-McDuffie County Fire Service Utility Service Area (the “Fire Utility Service Area”) and Town of 
Dearing has the responsibility for providing Fire Service in the incorporated area of Dearing (the “Town Fire 
District”) (collectively, the “Fire District”); and 

 
 WHEREAS, a goal of the City, County and Town is to provide the best fire protection possible within 
the resources of the City, County, and Town, and to achieve 24 hours per day, 7 days per week on duty coverage 
for the entire Fire District; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City, County and Town are the owners and operators of certain Fire Engines, fire 
protection vehicles, equipment, buildings and facilities designed to provide Fire Services and assistance and 
has in its employ paid personnel and volunteers trained in the use of such Fire Engines, vehicles and equipment 
and the provision of Fire Services; 
 

WHEREAS, the Town desires to engage the County to provide Fire Services within the Town Fire District 
upon the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement; and  
 

WHEREAS, the County desires to provide Fire Services upon the terms and conditions set forth in this 
Agreement; 

 
WHEREAS, the County provides Emergency Medical Services (the “EMS”) countywide by and through 

the County’s Fire Service; 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premise, the mutual covenants and promises hereinafter 
set forth, and other good and valuable consideration, the sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the 
parties agree as follows: 
 

ARTICLE I 
DEFINITIONS 

 
The following terms when used in this Agreement shall have the meanings as follows: 
 
1.1 Alarm means a signal or message from a person or device indicating the existence of a fire, medical 



 

 
Page 2 of 15 

emergency or other situation that requires emergency services response. 
 
1.2 Board means the Board of Commissioners of the County. 
 
1.3 Communications Center means the single facility, which receives emergency Fire Service calls from 
the PSAP, notifies First Responders and dispatches Fire Engines operating in the Service Area. 
 
1.4 Council means the City Council of the City of Thomson and the Town of Dearing.   
 
1.5 County has the meaning set out in the first paragraph of this Agreement. 
 
1.6 City and Town Equipment means the Fire Engines, other vehicles and equipment owned by the City of 
Thomson and the Town of Dearing and furnished to the County for its use in performing the services hereunder 
during the term of this Agreement which are listed on Exhibit A attached hereto. 
 
1.7 EMS means Emergency Medical Service. 
 
1.8 Fire District has the meaning set out in the first “Whereas” clause of this Agreement. 
 
1.9 Fire Engine means a motor vehicle that is specially constructed and equipped and is intended to be 
used for Fire Services. 
 
1.10 Firefighters Act has the meaning set out in Section 2.5 hereof. 
 
1.11 Fire Fighting Personnel   means any individual either employed (full time or part time) or volunteer 
who works for the County and has duties of providing or supporting the providing of Fire Service. 
 
1.12 Fire Protection means methods of providing fire detection, control and extinguishment.  
 
1.13 Fire Protection System means the comprehensive coordinated arrangement of resources and 
functions to respond to fire emergencies and other fire related needs in conjunction with providing Fire Service 
in the Fire District. 
 
1.14 Fire Service means the providing of professional Rescue, Fire Suppression, Structural Fire Fighting, Fire 
Protection, emergency medical care, Special Operations, initial response to incidents involving Hazardous 
Material, First Responder functions or responding under a Mutual Aid Agreement within the Fire District, 
including response to the scene of the incident and all functions performed at the scene. 
 
1.15 First Responder means the functional provision of initial assessment (airway, breathing and 
circulatory systems) and basic first aid intervention including CPR and automatic external defibrillator 
capability by an individual who has successfully completed an approved first responder course, with a 
minimum of 40 hours training. 
 
1.16 Fire Suppression means the activities involved in controlling and extinguishing fires. 
 
1.17 Hazardous Material means a substance that presents an unusual danger to persons due to properties 
of toxicity, chemical reactivity or decomposition, corrosivity, exposition or detonation, etiological hazards, or 
similar properties. 
 
1.18 License or Licensed means that a person or an entity has complied with all requirements of law and 



 

 
Page 3 of 15 

regulation necessary to perform its respective Fire Service functions. 
 
1.19 Mutual Aid Agreement means a written agreement between providers of Fire Services where the 
parties agree to provide assistance to one another. 
 
1.20 PSAP means the 9-1-1 Public Safety Answering Point which receives Alarms. 
 
1.21 Public Safety Commission means the committee established by the City and the County to provide 
recommendations to the Board of Commissioners concerning capital expenditures and operations of the Fire 
and EMS service.   
 
1.22 Rescue means those activities directed at locating endangered persons at an incident, removing those 
persons from danger, treating the injured and providing for transport to an appropriate health care facility. 
 
1.23 Response Time means the actual elapsed time between the conclusion of receipt of the Alarm at the 
Communications Center and the actual departure of a Fire Engine or other appropriate response vehicle on 
route to the location. 
 
1.24 Response Time Standards means a Response Time of not more than 10 minutes for Fire Engines 
staffed by on call Fire Fighting Personnel proceeding to the location as quickly as reasonably and safely possible.  
Monthly reports submitted by the City will reflect the Response Times. 
 
1.25 Service Area means that area which is shown as the County Service Area on the map, a copy of which 
is attached hereto as Exhibit B. 
 
1.26 Special Operations means emergency incidents to which the County’s fire department responds in the 
Service Area that requires specific and advanced training and specialized tools and equipment. 
  
1.27 State means the state of Georgia and its regulatory agencies. 
 
1.28 Structural Fire Fighting means the activities of rescue, fire supervision and property conservation 
involving buildings, anchored structures, vehicles, vessels, aircraft, or like properties that are involved in a fire 
or emergency situation. 
 

ARTICLE II 
TERM AND SCOPE OF AGREEMENT 

 
2.1 Term. The term of this Agreement shall commence on September 1, 2023 and end at 11:59 p.m. on 
August 31, 2044.   
 
2.2 Public Safety Commission.  During the term of this Agreement, City, Town, and County concur to the 
establishment of a Public Safety Commission (the “Commission”) consisting of five members.  The Commission 
shall consist of two members of the Town of Dearing, two members of the City of Thomson Council and two 
members of the McDuffie County Board of Commissioners, each member to be appointed by the respective 
body on which they serve as an elected official, and one member to be appointed from the public at large by 
the six members of the Commission as provided for in the Commission Bylaws.  The Fire Chief, City 
Administrator, and County Manager will serve as staff to the Public Safety Commission.  The Commission shall 
draft Bylaws for the body for approval by the Town, City and County.  The Commission will meet regularly, hear 
and develop strategic plans and projects, and make recommendations to the Town, City and the County for 
capital expenditures.  Oversight of all day to day operations and expenses will be solely the County’s 



 

 
Page 4 of 15 

responsibility. 
 
2.3 Scope of Agreement. During the term of this Agreement, the County shall furnish Fire Services as set 
out herein throughout the Service Area and when provided by Mutual Aid Agreement in other parts of the Fire 
District. 
 
2.4 Provision of Services. Without limiting its obligation to provide good, quality Fire Service under this 
Agreement, the County shall, as it relates to the Service Area and the Fire District, manage day-to-day field 
operations and purchasing of necessary operating equipment and supplies.  County shall negotiate all Mutual 
Aid Agreements as they relate to the Service Area and/or Fire District subject to final approval by the Board; 
maintain all facilities and equipment; hire/terminate and provide or arrange for in-service training of all Fire 
Fighting Personnel; provide monthly reports of Fire Service calls made in the Service Area; solicit in good faith 
the recommendations of the Town, City and the Commission; and cooperate with and respond to the Town, 
City and the Commission on matters related to Fire Service in the Service Area. County must hold and maintain 
all required Licenses and permits required by law. County's services provided in the Service Area shall include, 
but not be limited to, the following: 
 

a.  Employ individuals or obtain volunteers to serve as Fire Fighting Personnel and manage all Fire 
Fighting Personnel necessary to provide Fire Services at least at the level required by this Agreement; 
  

b. Ensure that the Fire Fighting Personnel meet State License or certification requirements; 
 

c.         Provide or arrange for in-service training for the Fire Fighting Personnel sufficient to meet 
State requirements;                                                                             
                                                                             

d.      Provide for all Fire Engines, equipment, supplies and maintenance necessary to perform Fire 
Services under this Agreement. The specific intent of this provision is that Town and City at all times has 
available adequate Fire Engines and crews; 
 

e.      Furnish all fuel (for use in the pay per call area), lubricants, repairs, initial supply inventory and all 
supplies; 
 

f. Operate the Fire Protection System in the Service Area to meet Response Time Standards; 
 

g.    Maintain good working relationships with area law enforcement agencies; 
 

h. Provide the public with information concerning Fire Service in the Service Area; 
 

i. Ensure professional conduct and appearance of all office staff, field personnel and Fire Fighting 
Personnel; 
 

j. Work out mutually beneficial Mutual Aid Agreements for the Service Area with neighboring 
fire departments; 
 

k. Provide training to First-Responder personnel on proper use of equipment;                  
 

l. Maintain State and local vehicle permits and personnel certifications;    
 

m. Operate and maintain fire stations to provide Fire Service in the Service Area. 
                            



 

 
Page 5 of 15 

n.    Coordinate communications with the dispatch personnel in the McDuffie County Sheriff's 
Office. 
    
2.4 Responsibilities of Fire Fighting Personnel.  Fire Fighting Personnel are prohibited from operating 
equipment that is substantially out of compliance with State standards. Fire Fighting Personnel are prohibited 
from falsifying or omitting data from reports. 
 
2.5 Professional Skills and Training of Personnel. All of County's personnel shall possess the professional 
skills, expertise and experience necessary to perform the jobs which each holds in connection with this 
Agreement, and those which are required to be Licensed or certified by any applicable law or regulation, shall 
have and maintain all necessary Licenses and certifications while performing services hereunder.  In addition, 
each person employed by or volunteering for the County as Fire Fighting Personnel must meet all of the 
qualifications required to be certified as a firefighter under the Georgia Firefighter Standards and Training Act, 
(O.C.G.A. §25-4-1 et seq.), (the “Firefighter’s Act”) and shall be a State Certified Firefighter under the 
Firefighter’s Act or become a State Certified Firefighter under the Firefighter’s Act in Georgia within twelve 
(12) months after employment or volunteering after the date of this Agreement, or within twelve (12) months 
after the date of this Agreement if said person is already an employee or volunteer of the County on the date 
of this Agreement.  County's personnel shall attend training sessions sufficient to maintain any Licenses or 
certifications (if required) necessary to perform the jobs which each such person performs in connection with 
this Agreement. County is responsible for ensuring that all personnel providing services related to this 
Agreement possess appropriate understanding of the Fire Protection System, the responsibilities of the various 
individuals involved and the interaction of all of those working in the Fire Protection System.   
 
2.6 Work Schedules and Working Conditions. County shall utilize reasonable work schedules, shift 
assignments, and provide adequate working-conditions. County shall ensure that Fire Fighting Personnel 
working extended shifts, part-time jobs, or overtime, will not negatively affect the providing of Fire Service. 
County shall comply with all State and Federal wage and hour laws and other applicable labor laws. 
 
2.7 Use of Mutual Aid Providers and First Responders Allowed.  County may arrange for and utilize Mutual 
Aid Agreements with neighboring fire departments and may utilize First Responder services furnished by itself 
or neighboring fire department towards fulfillment of the Response Time Standards.  Provision must be made 
to allow for direct radio contact between the Mutual Aid Provider or First Responders’ vehicle and the 
Communications Center.                                                                
  
2.9 Competence of Employees.   All persons employed by or serving as volunteers for County in the 
performance of work under this Agreement shall be competent and hold appropriate permits and Licenses for 
their jobs. It is understood and agreed that the County, its employees and volunteers shall abide by all 
customary procedures, standards, rules and regulations for providing Fire Service and Fire Engine and other 
vehicle maintenance.   
 
2.10 Personnel. Town and City Fire Department personnel will be offered comparable employment within 
the County Fire and EMS Department.  Said employment will be at the discretion of the individual.  Employment 
will be subject to the County’s pay scale and employment benefits.  Consideration will be afforded for years of 
service as it pertains to pay scale, retirement, and leave benefits.   
 
2.12 Standards for Fire Engine and Equipment Maintenance. 
 

a. Fire Engines and other vehicles furnished by the Town and City under this Agreement shall 
meet or exceed vehicle specifications for the services to be performed using these vehicles as outlined by the 
manufacturer, by law or by any applicable rules and regulations. 



 

 
Page 6 of 15 

 
b. Each Fire Engine shall be equipped with all equipment and supplies for operations as required 

by law or by any applicable rules and regulations. 
 
c. County shall maintain all Fire Engines and other vehicles operated by it in good and workable 

condition and in accordance with any requirements specified by law or applicable regulations.  All costs of 
maintenance and repairs, including parts, supplies, labor, subcontracted services and costs of extended 
warranties shall be at County’s expense. 

 
d. No Fire Engine, other vehicle or equipment that has been substantially damaged or altered 

shall be again placed in service until it has been adequately repaired. 
 
2.13 Disaster Response. During a declared disaster, as determined by an agency of government either 
locally or in a neighboring jurisdiction, the normal course of business under this Agreement may be interrupted 
from the moment the disaster situation is made known to County until such time as the disaster situation is 
resolved. Immediately upon such notification, County shall commit such resources as are necessary and 
appropriate, given the nature of the disaster, and shall assist in accordance with disaster plans and protocols 
applicable in the locality where the disaster has occurred.  
 
2.14 Budgets.  As of the effective date of this Agreement, the County shall be responsible for the Fire Service 
budget.     
 
2.15 Town and City Owned Fire Stations.  County, Town, and City acknowledge that the Town and the City 
are the owners of a fire stations located within the Town and City including certain furnishings and fixtures 
listed in Exhibit C attached hereto (collectively, “Fire Stations”), to be occupied by the County for the purpose 
of providing Fire and EMS Service.  County, Town and City agree that County may occupy, use and operate the 
Fire Station for the term of this Agreement.  The Town and City shall lease the Fire Station, in addition to the 
Town and City Equipment, to the County in return for the services provided by the County under this 
Agreement.  The County shall be responsible for maintaining the Fire Station in good, clean and workable 
condition and in accordance with any requirements specified by law or applicable regulations.  All cost of 
maintenance and repair, including materials, supplies, labor and subcontracted services, shall be at County’s 
expense.  The County shall be responsible for the obtaining and paying for the casual and property damage 
insurance on the real and personal property belonging to the Town and City which make up or is located in the 
Fire Station.  The Fire Station shall be subject to inspection at any reasonable time by representatives of the 
Commission to determine compliance with the foregoing requirements.  At the conclusion of the term of this 
Agreement, the Fire Station shall be returned to Town and City in good condition, normal wear and tear only 
excepted.  Town, City and County shall inspect the Fire Station at such time to determine compliance with this 
provision. 
 
2.16 Town and City Equipment.  During the term of this Agreement the Town and City shall lease to the 
County the Town and City Equipment, in addition to the Fire Station, in return for the services provided by the 
County under this Agreement.  The County shall be responsible for maintaining, repairing and lubricating the 
Town and City Equipment and maintaining state and local vehicle permits and licenses for the Town and City 
Equipment in the same manner that it is required to do so for its own Fire Engines, other vehicles and 
equipment used to provide the services hereunder.  The County shall maintain the Town and City Equipment 
in good, working condition for the life of the Town and City Equipment, normal wear and tear only excepted.  
Prior to using any of the Town and City Equipment, the County shall have and maintain in place all of the 
insurance coverages required by Section 5.7 hereof covering the Town and City, its officers, council members, 
employees or agents in connection with the operation and use of the Town and City Equipment.  The County 
shall be responsible for purchasing the comprehensive insurance coverage on the Town and City Equipment. 



 

 
Page 7 of 15 

 
2.17 County Equipment.  The County shall be responsible for purchasing and/or obtaining any additional 
Fire Engines, other vehicles and equipment necessary to provide and perform the Fire Services during the term 
of this Agreement.  Any Fire Engines, other vehicles and equipment acquired by the County pursuant to this 
Section shall be property of and owned by the County. 
 

 
ARTICLE III 

PAYMENTS AND FEES 
 
3.1 Compensation.   As compensation for services rendered under this Agreement, the Town and City shall 
pay to the County annually, an amount equal to Insurance Premium Tax revenue that the Town and City 
receives annually during each fiscal year of the agreement.   
 
3.2 Fire Service Fee.  The County, at the discretion of the Board, may implement a Fire Service Fee within 
the Service Area.  Revenue from said fee will be used for the operation of the Fire Service.   
 

ARTICLE IV 
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

 
  As an inducement to County to enter into this Agreement, Town and City represents and warrants to 
County as follows: 
 
4.1  Due Organization and Formation. Town and City is a duly organized and validly existing municipal 
corporations in good standing under the laws of the State of Georgia. 
 
4.2  Capacity. Town and City have full power, authority and legal right to execute and deliver, and to 
perform and observe the provisions of this Agreement and to carry out the services contemplated hereby. 
4.3  Authority and Enforceability. The execution, delivery and performance by the Town and City of this 
Agreement have been duly authorized by all necessary action of the Council which was taken at a properly 
called and held meeting at which a quorum was present and acting throughout and which was held in 
accordance with the State’s Open Meetings Laws and does not and will not require any consent or approval 
of, notice to, or any action by, any other person or entity.  The provisions of this Agreement constitute legal, 
valid and binding obligations of the Town and City. 
 
4.4  Compliance with Other Instruments. The execution and delivery of this Agreement and  compliance 
with its terms, will not result in a breach of any of the terms or conditions of, nor  constitute a default (with 
due notice or lapse of time or both) under any indenture, agreement,  order, judgment or instrument under 
which the Town and City are parties or by which the Town and City or  its property may be bound or affected; 
nor result in an occurrence of an event for which any holder or holders of indebtedness may declare the same 
due and payable; nor violate any  provision of applicable law. 
 
4.5  Financial Information. All financial information concerning County or its assets related to the providing 
of Fire Service including, without limitation, the cost of providing Fire Service in the Service Area and within 
the city limits of the Town and City provided to the Town and City by the County or its accountants, attorneys, 
or other representatives, whether written or oral, was when given and shall be at the time of the execution of 
this Agreement, true, accurate and complete, without any material misstatement or omission of fact. 
 
4.6  Litigation. There are no actions, suits or proceedings pending, or to the knowledge of the Town and 
City threatened against or affecting the Town and City, at law or in equity, before or by any court or regulatory 



 

 
Page 8 of 15 

agency.  The Town and City are not in violation or default with respect to any contract, instrument, charter, 
applicable laws and/or regulations or other restrictions which would materially and adversely affect the 
business, properties or condition (financial or otherwise) of the Town and City; nor is the Town and City in 
violation or  default with respect to any order, writ, injunction, demand or decree of any court or other 
governmental authority or in violation or default (nor is there any waiver in effect which, if not in effect,  would 
result in a violation or default) in any material respect under any indenture, agreement, contract, charter or 
other instrument under which the Town or City are a party or may be bound. 
 
4.7  Licenses and Other Rights. Town and City possesses all Licenses and authorizations and all rights with 
respect thereto, which are required to conduct its business as now conducted or as contemplated by this 
Agreement without known conflict with the rights of others which would materially and adversely affect such 
business or Town’s or City’s performance of its obligations under this Agreement.  
 
4.8 Disclosure. Neither this Agreement, the proposal nor any other document, certificate or statement 
furnished to County by or on behalf of the Town and City contains any untrue statement of a material fact or 
omits to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements contained herein and therein not 
misleading. There is no fact known to the Town or City which materially and adversely affects, or which in the 
future may (so far as can now reasonably be foreseen) materially and adversely affect, the ability of the Town 
or City to fully and adequately perform its obligations under this Agreement which has not been disclosed in 
writing to County. 

 
 

ARTICLE V 
ADDITIONAL COVENANTS 

 
 During the term of this Agreement, County shall comply with each and every one of the following 
covenants. 
 
5.1  Right of Inspection. County shall permit the Town and City or its representatives 1) at any reasonable 
time and from time to time, to inspect the facilities and equipment being used to operate the Fire Protection 
System and provide the Fire Service, and 2) during normal business hours to audit, examine and copy or take 
abstracts from County's books and records with respect to the Fire Protection System and the Fire Service. 
 
5.2  Notice of Default.  Upon its discovery of the occurrence of any default or Event of Default (or the 
existence of any fact or circumstance which can be reasonably expected to result in a default or Event of 
Default), or other noncompliance with any provision, term or condition of this Agreement, the County shall 
immediately give notice thereof to City. 
 
5.3  Maintenance of Existence, Conduct of Fire Service Business. County shall preserve and maintain its 
business of providing Fire Services as presently conducted (or as contemplated hereby) and all licenses, rights, 
privileges and authorizations necessary or desirable in the normal conduct of said business and in the 
performance of its obligations under this Agreement; conduct its business of providing Fire Services in an 
orderly, efficient and regular manner; keep true and correct books of record and accounts adequate to the 
needs of such business; keep its assets useful or necessary in its business of providing Fire Services in good 
working order and condition, and from time to time make all needed repairs, renewals and replacements 
thereto or thereof, so that the efficiency of its Fire Service assets shall be usefully preserved; and will comply 
with all applicable laws and regulations of any person or entity having jurisdiction over County's operations 
and the terms of any indenture, contract or other instrument to which it may be a party or under which it may 
be  bound, except where contested in good faith and by proper proceedings.  
 



 

 
Page 9 of 15 

5.4  Compliance with Law. County shall comply with all current and future laws, rules and regulations 
applicable to providing Fire Service under this Agreement.  No change in any law, rule or regulation shall entitle 
County to extra compensation hereunder.  
 
5.5  Use of Compensation Paid to County.  County acknowledges that the source of the funds used to pay 
it compensation under Section 3.1 of this Agreement is from a sales tax imposed upon owners of certain 
insurance policies in the City Fire District.  The County further acknowledges that the money raised by this tax 
shall only be used to provide Fire Service in the Fire District.  The County shall not use the compensation paid 
to it hereunder for any other purpose other than providing Fire Services, and in the event that any 
compensation paid to the County hereunder shall be found to have been used for some other purpose, the 
amount of such expenditure shall be promptly refunded by the County to the City.   
 
5.7 Insurance Requirements. County shall procure, pay for and maintain throughout the term of this 
Agreement the insurance coverages with the limits as provided herein. Said insurance shall be evidenced by 
delivery to the Town and City of Certificates of Insurance executed by an insurance carrier licensed to write 
such insurance by the State, listing coverages and limits, expiration dates, terms of policies and setting out an 
agreement to notify the Town and City at least ten (10) days prior to the cancellation of such insurance. 
 
 a.  Commercial general liability insurance, including but not limited to, contractual, independent 
Town and City, premises, operations, products, completed operations and personal injury with limits of not 
less than $1,000,000 per occurrence, combined single limit bodily injury (including death) and property; and 
$2,000,000 annual aggregate. Coverage shall be on "an occurrence basis," and the policy shall include broad 
form property damage coverage. 
 
 b.  Worker's compensation coverage to statutory limits as required by law; employer’s liability 
insurance of not less than $1,000,000 bodily injury by incident; $1,000,000 bodily injury by disease for each 
employee. 
 
 c.  Comprehensive automobile liability covering all Fire Engines and other vehicles used under 
this Agreement to provide Fire Service in the Service Area for owned, hired, and non-owned vehicles with 
minimum limits of $1,000,000 combined single limit for bodily injury (including death), and property damage.  
 
 d.  Personal injury protection (PIP) or medical payment coverage as required by law.  
 
 e.  Uninsured and under insured motorist coverage shall be provided as required by law.  
 
5.9 Applications for Grants.  County shall routinely apply for grants to purchase equipment or for the 
equipment itself to be used in the Service Area as offered by the U.S. Fire Administration.  The City shall provide 
support to the County in preparing the grant applications as necessary. 
 
5.10 Reliance on Representations, Warranties and Covenants. Each and every representation, warranty and 
covenant contained herein, and all such representations, warranties and covenants in the aggregate, have 
been and will continue to be relied upon by County and are material to its decision to enter into and perform 
its obligations under this Agreement. 

 
 

ARTICLE VI 
DEFAULT 

 
6.1  Events of Default. Any one of the following events shall be considered an Event of Default:  



 

 
Page 10 of 15 

 
 a.  If this Agreement or information which one party provided to the other in connection with the 
party or the transactions described in this Agreement contains any untrue statement of a material fact or omits 
to state a material fact necessary to make statements therein not misleading in the light of circumstances 
under which it was made.  
 

b. If County fails to maintain or loses any License, appointment or any other authorization or 
approval needed for County to carry out its obligations under this Agreement in accordance with all applicable 
laws, ordinances, rules or regulations. 

 
d.  If County shall breach any other term, condition or covenant of this Agreement and such 

breach shall not be cured after written notice and a thirty (30) day right to cure unless a longer or shorter cure 
period is elsewhere provided for herein; provided, however, that if the default cannot be cured within said 
thirty (30) day period and the County begins the cure within said thirty (30) day period and diligently pursues 
the cure to completion, then the default shall be deemed timely cured, but in no event shall the time to cure 
a default exceed ninety (90) days.  

 
e.  If the Town or City fails to make any payments due from it to County under the terms of this 

Agreement after written notice and a ten (10) day right to cure.  
 

6.2  Remedies Upon Default. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default by County and failure to cure 
within the time provided, the Town or City may terminate this Agreement by giving written notice of 
termination to the County which must be at least one hundred twenty (120) days after the receipt of the notice 
by the County.  Upon the occurrence of Event of Default by the Town or City, the County may terminate this 
Agreement by giving written notice of termination to the Town or City which shall specify the date of 
termination which must be at least one hundred twenty (120) days after the receipt of the notice by the Town 
or City. 

 
ARTICLE VII 

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 
 
7.1  County Service. County shall perform this Agreement as a County Service and nothing herein contained 
shall be construed to be inconsistent with that relationship or status. Nothing in this Agreement shall in any 
way be construed to constitute the Town or City as the agent, employee or representative of County. The 
manner and method of completing the work undertaken by County shall be determined in its sole discretion. 
 
7.2  Change in Boundaries of Service Area.  The County retains the right, which it may exercise from time 
to time during the term of this Agreement, to increase or decrease the boundaries of the Service Area. 
 
7.3  Governing Law. This Agreement shall be subject to and governed according to the laws of the State of 
Georgia. 
 
7.4  Right and Remedies Not Waived. County agrees that the services specified herein shall be completed 
without further compensation than that provided in the Agreement. The acceptance of services and the 
payment for them shall not be held to prevent maintaining an action for failure to perform such services in 
accordance with the Agreement. Payment shall not be a waiver by the Town or City of any claims for breach 
or default. 
 
7.5 Binding Effect. This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the parties 
hereto, their respective successors, assigns or other legal representatives.  



 

 
Page 11 of 15 

 
7.6 Assignment.  No right or obligation hereunder may in any way whatsoever be assigned or delegated 
to a third party without the express prior written consent of the other party hereto, and any attempted 
assignment without such consent shall be considered null and void.   
 
7.7 Legal Fees. In the event either party brings any action for any relief, declaratory or otherwise, arising 
out of this Agreement, or on account of any breach or default hereof, the prevailing party shall be entitled to 
receive from the other party, reasonable attorneys' fees, costs, and expenses related to such action. 
 
7.8 Severability. If any portion or portions of this Agreement shall be for any reason invalid or unenforceable, 
the remaining portion(s) shall be valid and enforceable and carried into effect unless to do so would clearly 
violate the present legal and valid intention of the parties hereto. 
 
7.9 Notices. Any notice required or permitted to be given pursuant to any provisions of this Agreement shall be 
given in writing, and either delivered in person, by electronic transmission, deposited in the United States mail, 
postage pre-paid, registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, properly addressed, or by a courier 
service, to the following addresses: 
 
 McDuffie County, Georgia     City of Thomson 
 Attention: County Manager     Attention:  City Administrator  
 210 Railroad Street     210 Railroad Street 
 Thomson, GA 30824     Thomson, GA  30824  
 Telecopier Number (706) 595-4710    Telecopier Number (706) 595-2161 
  
 Town of Dearing 
 Attention:  Mayor 
 4577 Augusta Highway 
 Dearing, Georgia 30808 
 Telecopier Number (706) 556-0384 
 
The notification addresses listed above can be changed by either party with proper notice as listed above. 
 
7.10  Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement and understanding between 
the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes any previous agreement or understanding, 
whether oral or otherwise. No modification of this Agreement shall be valid unless in writing and signed by each 
of the parties hereto. 
 
7.11  Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be an 
original, but all of which shall constitute one and the same instrument.  
 
7.13  Service Delivery Strategy.  This Agreement shall constitute a part of the Service Delivery Strategy 
between the Town, the City and the County for the term of or the earlier termination of this Agreement.  The 
County shall notify the State Department of Community Affairs of this update in the Service Delivery Strategy 
previously filed with it.  This Agreement shall in no way constitute or be construed to be a waiver by the County, 
at any time following the expiration or termination of this Agreement, to provide Fire Service in all or any portion 
of the Service Area or to change the method, manner or parties who provide Fire Service in the Service Area. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed under seal by their 

authorized representatives on the day and year first above written. 
 



 

 
01271499-1 Page 12 of 15 

       MCDUFFIE COUNTY, GEORGIA 
 
       By:________________________________________ 
        Its Chairman of the Board of Commissioners 
        

 
Attest:_____________________________________ 

        Its Clerk of the Board of Commissioners 
 
 [COUNTY SEAL]     
        
 
 
       CITY OF THOMSON 
 
       By:________________________________________ 
         Its Mayor  
 
        
       Attest:_____________________________________ 
        Its Clerk 
        
 [CITY SEAL] 
 
       TOWN OF DEARING 
 
       By:  _______________________________________ 
        Its Mayor 
 
 
       Attest:  ____________________________________ 
        Its Clerk 
 [CITY SEAL] 



 

 
01271499-1 Page 13 of 15 

Exhibit A 
 
 



 

 
01271499-1 Page 14 of 15 

Exhibit B 
 

Map of Service Area 
 

[To Be Determined] 
  



 

 
01271499-1 Page 15 of 15 

 
Exhibit C 



STAFF REPORT 

MCDUFFIE COUNTY COMMISSION MEETING: August 15, 2023 

DATE: August 11, 2023  
TO: McDuffie County Board of Commissioners 
FROM: Jason Smith 
ISSUE: Temporary alcohol license request – Arts Council of Thomson  

EVENT: Blind Willie McTell Blues Festival 
DATE: September 23, 2023 
LOCATION: Stagecoach Road 

BACKGROUND: Don Powers is requesting a temporary alcohol license for the sale of beer and wine during 
the 29th annual Blind Willie McTell Blues Festival. 

FACTS AND FINDINGS: 
1. Mr. Powers has submitted the appropriate paperwork and passed his background check.

ALTERNATIVES: 
1. The Commission approves the temporary alcohol license request.
2. The Commission denies the temporary alcohol license request.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends approval of the request. 

ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Application
2. Letter of request













STAFF REPORT 
 

MCDUFFIE COUNTY COMMISSION MEETING: August 15, 2023 
 
DATE:  August 11, 2023  
TO:  McDuffie County Board of Commissioners 
FROM:  Jason Smith 
ISSUE: Temporary alcohol license request – Thomson-McDuffie County Chamber of Commerce   
 
EVENT:   Annual Chamber Golf Classic 
DATE:   September 26, 2023 
LOCATION: Belle Meade Country Club 
    
BACKGROUND: Chamber Director Carrington Beggs is requesting a temporary alcohol license for the sale 
of beer and wine during Annual Chamber Golf Classic. 
 
FACTS AND FINDINGS:  

1. Miss Beggs has submitted the appropriate paperwork and passed his background check.  
 

ALTERNATIVES: 
1. The Commission approves the temporary alcohol license request.   
2. The Commission denies the temporary alcohol license request.  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends approval of the request. 
   
ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Application 
2. Letter of request 











STAFF REPORT 
 

COMMISSIONERS’ MEETING: August 15, 2023 
 
DATE:  August 14, 2023  
TO:  Board of Commissioners 
FROM:  David R. Crawley, County Manager 
ISSUE:  Monthly Budget Report 
 
BACKGROUND:  The Budget Report is provided monthly to the Board of Commissioners.   
 
FACTS AND FINDINGS: 

1. Budget report is provided through June 31st, which represents 58.33% of the year. 
2. Expended and Collected: 
 

Fund Year to Date 
Expended 

Percentage Used Year to Date Revenue Percentage 
Collected 

General Fund $8,164,820.40 54.7% $5,860,221.65 38.7% 
Landfill Surcharge $50,155.41 80.6% $38,513.34 61.9% 
Law Library $7,683.09 41.5% $8,444.33 45.6% 
Forfeiture Fund $0.00 0.0% $36,671.62 407.0% 
Drug Fund $3,865.42 12.3% $18,668.88 59.5% 
Jail Fund $35,406.02 29.7% $34,220.60 28.4% 
Drug Court $78,037.32 41.2% $88,344.00 46.6% 
E911 $441,653.20 47.9% $420,474.00 45.6% 
E911 Wireless $0.00 0.0% $0.00 0.0% 
CDBG $1,104.49 0.1% $15,388.00 1.2% 
Juvenile Probation $0.00 0.0% $160.00 80.0% 
AR Funds $0.00 0.0% $117,628.77 2.8% 
Multiple Grants $64,179.34 108.2% $104,273.95 175.8% 
Transportation $233,603.33 52.8% $230,081.42 52.0% 
Fire and EMS $3,838,869.78 65.8% $2,216,970.51 38.0% 
Hotel Motel $234,616.42 78.0% $195,042.25 64.9% 
SPLOST IV $292.50 83.6% $0.13 0.0% 
SPLOST V $312.00 0.5% $13.62 0.0% 
SPLOST VI $30,149.25 1.0% $43,330.99 1.4% 
SPLOST VII $1,201,360.41 30.0% $2,772,755.76 69.3% 
T-SPLOST $1,517,650.56 68.9% $2,759,218.71 125.4% 
Broadband Grant $0.00 0.0% $0.00 0.0% 
Wrightsboro Road $0.00 0.0% $0.00 0.0% 
LMIG $0.00 0.0% $508,772.26 101.8% 
Debt Service Fund $0.00 0.0% $0.00 0.0% 
Solid Waste $1,313,953.66 56.6% $863,549.75 37.2% 
Campgrounds $118,983.56 29.7% $249,679.90 62.4% 
Lawn Care $46,532.57 43.3% $46,532.57 43.3% 
County Shop $101,810.05 38.6% $101,810.05 38.6% 
Total $17,485,038.78 34.6% $16,730,766.70 32.9% 



 
3. Solid Waste has a deficit of $450,403.91. 
4. Campgrounds have earned $130,696.34. 
5. The General Fund has contributed $161,681.53 to E911. 
6. Fire and EMS Fund has a deficit of $1,621,899.27. 
7. General Fund has contributed $73,113.22 to Transit. 

 
ALTERNATIVES: None 

 
FUNDING:  None 
 
POLICY ANALYSIS:  None   
 
RECOMMENDATION: None at this time.   
 
ATTACHMENTS: Year to Date Budget Reports.   
























































































